69,413

## SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAUL GARCIA GRANADOS QUINONES, et al.,

Appellants/Defendants

Case Nos.

69,412

69,413 69,478 69,479

vs.

SWISS BANK CORPORATION (OVERSEAS) S.A., et al.,

Appellees/Plaintiffs.

SID J. WHITE

FEB 5 1987

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk ...

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONER RAUL GARCIA GRANADOS QUINONES

> KENNY NACHWALTER & SEYMOUR, P.A. 400 Edward Ball Building 100 Chopin Plaza - Miami Center Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 358-8151

Attorneys for Petitioner Raul Garcia Granados Quinones

##

#### I. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court erred in failing to reverse the trial Court's order which denied Defendants' motion to dismiss. This motion was based on the parties' contractual agreement that any dispute between the parties involving the agreements in question would be litigated either in Guatemala or Panama, to the exclusion of all other jurisdictions. Such clauses are enforceable in Florida absent a showing by the party opposing dismissal that enforcement of the forum selection clause would "virtually deprive the [plaintiff] of his day in court" if the matter were litigated in the chosen forum. Plaintiff has not and cannot make such a showing in this case.

The District Court also erred in failing to reverse the trial Court's order denying Defendants' motion to dismiss based on the doctrine of forum non conveniens. This matter involves an action between parties who are not residents of Florida. It. is essentially a contractual dispute between foreign parties involving contracts entered into in Guatemala and to be performed in Guatemala. The cause of action, if any, arose in Guatemala. Florida has relationship to the contractual dispute. no Moreover, to the extent that it is contended that some parties may be residents of Florida, this Court should revisit its decision in Houston v. Caldwell, 359 So.2d 858 (Fla. 1978) and rule that the residency of the parties is only one factor, among others, to be considered in determining whether a matter should be dismissed pursuant to the doctrine of forum non conveniens.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

Petitioner Raul Garcia Granados Quinones<sup>1</sup> ("RGG") seeks review of a decision of the Third District Court of Appeal which expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of this Court on the same question of law, namely: whether a contractual choice of forum clause bargained for in good faith is enforceable in Florida courts. RGG also seeks review of that part of the Third District's decision which affirmed the trial Court's denial of RGG's motion to dismiss based upon the doctrine of forum non conveniens.

#### A. Factual Background

In 1978 Banque National de Paris ("Bank of Paris") allegedly opened a letter of credit for \$20,000,000.00 in favor of Administracion Central Industrial y Apropecuaria, S.A. ("ACIA"),

Plaintiff misspelled Quinones in the style of the case at the trial court level as Quinonez.

a Guatemala corporation.<sup>2</sup> (R. 9, 17).<sup>3</sup> The documents memorializing this agreement, written in Spanish, were executed in Guatemala. (R. 17). All performance pursuant to the agreement was to take place in Guatemala. (R. 42-86). The documents were registered in Guatemala.<sup>4</sup> (R. 98). With the exception of the Bank of Paris, which is a banking association organized under the laws of the Republic of France, all the parties to the agreement were citizens and residents of Guatemala, or other Latin American countries. (R. 2-17). No Florida or United States citizens or residents were involved in the transaction.

Approximately one year later the credit was allegedly increased by an additional \$11,000,000.00. (R. 18). At about

References to the Record on Appeal will be designated (R. ) with citation to the appropriate page number(s). References to the Appendix previously filed with this Court will be designated (App. ) with citation to the appropriate page number(s).

The agreement was allegedly guaranteed by Raul Garcia Granados Quinones, Enriqueta de Garay Asencio de Garcia Granados, Rosa Carlota Dubon Zea de Garcia Granados, Maria Judith Garcia Granados de Garay de Vestrini, Paolo Vestrini Lensi, Barbara Virginia Garcia Granados de Garay de Arzu, Compania de Inversiones Agricolas E Industriales, S.A., Garcia Granados, Garcia Granados Y Compania Limitada, Compania de Inversiones Agricolas E Industriales Garcigra, S.A., Agropecua Ria Pangolita, S.A., Compania de Inversiones Agricolas E Industriales Coyolate, S.A., Agropecuaria Pangola, S.A., Jorge Raul Garcia Granados y Compania Limitada, Compania Agropecuaria Nueva Linda, S.A., Compania de Servicios Agromaquinas, S.A., Insumos Agricolas, S.A., Administracion Central, Industrial Y Agropecuaria, S.A., Agropecuaria La Conquista, S.A., Ensambladora de Maquinaria Agricola, S.A., Compania Guatemalteca de Aeroservicios, S.A., Compania Agropecuaria La Barranquilla, S.A., Agroindustrias Agroinsa, S.A., Agropecuaria Terra, S.A. (R. 17-18).

These types of agreements are required by Guatemala law to be registered with the government of Guatemala before they can be negotiated or enforced by the parties to the agreement. (R. 98).

that same time ACIA also allegedly executed five separate promissory notes in the amount of one million dollars each in favor of the Bank of Paris as a further extension of the agreement. (R. 18). The five notes were allegedly guaranteed by various persons who were citizens and residents of Guatemala or other Latin American countries. Again no Florida or United States citizens or residents were involved in the transaction.

The following year the parties allegedly entered into another agreement where ACIA was granted an extension of an additional \$2,000,000.00 line of credit (hereinafter the "December 1980 agreement"). The December 1980 agreement ratified and superseded all prior agreements between the parties. (R. 19-20). No Florida or United States citizens were involved in that final

Each of these Promissory Notes was allegedly guaranteed by Raul Garcia Granados Quinones, Enriqueta de Garay Asencio de Garcia Granados, Rosa Carlota Dobon Zea de García Granados, Maria Judith Garcia Granados de Garay de Vestrini, Paolo Vestrini Lensi, Barbara Virginia Garcia Granados de Garay de Arzu, Silvia Laura Enriqueta Garcia Granados de Garay de Arzu, Agropecuaria Los Laureles, S.A., Compania de Inversiones Agricolas e Industriales, S.A., Ensambladora de Maquinaria Agricola, S.A., Agroindustrias Agroinsa, S.A., Industria Maderera Inmasa, S.A., Insumos Agricolas, S.A., Jorge Raul Garcia Granados y Compania Limitada, Garcia Granados, Garcia Granados y Compania Limitada, Compania Guatemalteca de Aeroservicios, S.A., Agropecuaria La Conquista, S.A., Agropecuaria Pangola, S.A., Agruapecuaria Pangolita, S.A., Compania de Servicios Agromaquinas, S.A., Compania de Inversiones Agricolas e Industriales Garcigra, S., Compania de Inversiones Agricolas e Industriales Coyolate, S.A., Compania Agropecuaria La Barranquilla, S.A., Agropecuaria Terra, S.A., Sistemas y Controles, S.A., Agropecuaria Mojarras, S.A., Desarrollo Quimco Industrial, S.A., Desarrollo y Tecnologia, S.A., Desmotadoras, S.A., Agropecuaria Irlanda, S.A., Agricola Toliman, S.A., Transportes Blanco y Negro, S.A., Hatos de Engorde, S.A., Empresa Agropecuaria Puyumate, S.A. Carlos Alfonso Castillo, Ramirez, Francisco Font Elias, Carlos Montenegro Panigua, Jose Manuel Gomez Perez and Miguel A. Ponciano; each of whom allegedly guaranteed one of the five one million dollar notes. (R. 18-19).

agreement. In that agreement, the parties negotiated, bargained for and agreed, among other things, to litigate any disputes relating to that and the other agreements in either Guatemala or Panama, to the exclusion of all other jurisdictions. (R. 78).

## B. Procedural History - Trial Court

In February 1986, Swiss Bank Corporation (Overseas), S.A. ("Swiss Bank") filed a complaint in the Circuit Court of Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and for Dade County, Florida seeking to collect on the debt allegedly owed by ACIA and the guarantors. Prior to any of the fifty-eight (58) named defendants filing an answer, Swiss Bank filed an amended complaint. The amended complaint consists of eight counts. (R. 5-41). These counts, as denominated by Swiss Bank, are:

- II. Note Due
- III. Note Due
- IV. Note Due
- V. Note Due
- VI. Note Due
- VII. Note Due
- VIII. Fraudulent Transfer

(R. 5-41). In its amended complaint, 6 Swiss Bank alleges that the various notes are in default. (R. 24-34). Swiss Bank alleges that it was assigned 32% of the rights, benefits and interest in the December 1980 agreement and the five 1979 promissory notes by the Bank of Paris. (R. 21). The non-note of Swiss Bank's amended complaint concern alleged counts fraudulent transfers and writs of attachment and garnishment. (R. 5-41). The non-note counts are entirely dependent upon Swiss Bank prevailing at trial on the "note" counts.8

Swiss Bank's motions for emergency attachment and garnishment were filed, heard ex parte and granted by the court before service of any pleadings on any of the Defendants. The court also initially granted Swiss Bank's ex parte motion for emergency

Swiss Bank subsequently filed a second amended complaint which added Bank of Paris as an additional Plaintiff and added an additional cause of action, <u>i.e.</u>, an alleged violation of Florida's Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organization Act ("RICO"). By stipulation of the parties, the second amended complaint, and the allegations contained therein, were not to affect the substantive basis for RGG's motion to dismiss the amended complaint. (R. 146). Therefore, the second amended complaint should not affect this Court's consideration of the trial court's order denying RGG's motion to dismiss the amended complaint.

The December 1980 agreement is also known as Public Deed 130.

Obviously, if the alleged guarantors have no liability under Guatemala law on the notes they cannot possibly be guilty of fraudulent transfers to avoid payment of that debt. The same is true of the writs of attachment and garnishment. Absent an enforceable debt owed to Swiss Bank by the alleged guarantors, there is no basis for either attachment or garnishment.

discovery $^9$  and sealed the court file pending service of the writs of attachment and garnishment. $^{10}$ 

filed a Swiss dismiss Bank's amended RGG motion to complaint. 11 (R. 86). In support of his motion to dismiss, RGG filed a memorandum urging that the amended complaint be dismissed because the parties had chosen to litigate disputes relating to the December 1980 agreement in either Guatemala or Panama, to the exclusion of all other jurisdictions. (R. 86-124). RGG also asserted the Amended Complaint should be dismissed pursuant to the doctrine of forum non conveniens. (R. 125). In addition to his own affidavit, RGG filed supporting affidavits of Carlos Diaz

The court subsequently, after having the opportunity to hear from Defendants, limited the emergency discovery "to assets in the United States." As the litigation progresses in the trial court, it has become readily apparent that the principal reason for Swiss Bank bringing this action in the United States rather than in Guatemala or Panama is to attempt to conduct prejudgment discovery of Defendants' assets, sources of income, etc. prior to being required to demonstrate its right to a judgment on any of the notes and/or guarantees under Guatemala law.

The writs of attachment went far beyond the permissible bounds of such writs under Florida law. For example, the writs authorized the sheriff to break and enter the premises and the writs could be served on Sunday and at night. At least one home was actually broken into while the occupant was away and the contents taken by the sheriff prior to that particular Defendant, who was not even a debtor of Plaintiff, ever being aware of the lawsuit. The writs also authorized the seizure of documents as well as property. As such the writs allowed Swiss Bank to completely circumvent the entire discovery process established by the Florida's Rules of Civil Procedure. The propriety of the issuance of the writs is now under review by the Third District Court of Appeal in separate appeals.

RGG's motion was actually a motion to: (1) Dismiss Plaintiff's Amended Complaint and in the Alternative Motion for Partial Summary Judgment; (2) Strike Claim for Attorneys' Fees and Punitive Damages; and (3) Strike References to Prior Law Suits.

Duran, Luis Juerez Aragon and Benjamin Garoz Villatoro<sup>12</sup> (hereinafter the "Experts"). (R. 92). The Experts' affidavits stated, among other things, that the forum selection clause (Clause 17) of the December 1980 Agreement:

[Is] valid, enforceable and mandatory under the laws of Guatemala. The language used in Clause Seventeen is effective to preclude, by agreement of the parties, the bringing of any action by the Creditor [Bank of Paris] (or any Assignee) in any jurisdiction other than Guatemala or Panama.

## (R. 115). RGG's affidavit stated, among other things, that:

- (a) Any witnesses to the agreements are residents of a country other than the United States and are not residents of Florida;
- (b) Compulsory process for attendance of unwilling witnesses is available in Guatemala;
- (c) The cost of obtaining attendance of willing witnesses would be greatly reduced if this action were pursued in either Guatemala or Panama since most of the witnesses reside in Guatemala or other countries in Latin America;
- (d) The Guatemala forum would alleviate the problem of having to translate the testimony of most witnesses and all documents from Spanish to English;
- (e) Any judgment would be more easily enforceable in Guatemala since the security allegedly given for the agreements is located there and that is where the corporate headquarters of

<sup>12</sup> All of whom are lawyers licensed to practice in Guatemala.

the principal debtor is located; 13 and

(f) Guatemala has a much greater interest than Florida in interpreting and applying its law to the controversy.

In addition, it is undisputed in the record that:

- (a) RGG is a citizen and resident of Guatemala. (R. 135A).
- (b) Plaintiff Swiss Bank is a foreign corporation organized and existing under the laws of Panama. (R. 6).
- (c) All the agreements which form the basis of Plaintiff's law suit were executed in Guatemala. (R. 135A).
- (d) All the agreements which form the basis of Plaintiff's law suit were to be performed in Guatemala. (R. 135A).
- (e) All of the documents which form the basis of Plaintiff's law suit are in Spanish. (R. 135A).
- (f) RGG is not the maker of any of the alleged notes on which Plaintiff Swiss Bank seeks to collect in this matter. (R. 89).
- (g) Swiss Bank's sole basis for asserting a claim against RGG on the notes is that RGG is allegedly a guarantor on the notes. (R. 5-41).

Under Guatemala law, an action must first be brought against the principal obligor of any debt instrument and the underlying security before proceeding against any alleged guarantors. (R. 116-18). However, Swiss Bank has attempted to circumvent this required procedure and legal principle by filing an action in Florida and proceeding directly against the guarantors. Had this matter been filed in Guatemala, as the parties agreed, RGG could not and would not be a defendant. Since Swiss Bank would be compelled to first proceed against ACIA (the principal debtor) in Guatemala, RGG submits this legal principle, which Swiss Bank has not disputed, is an additional ground for dismissing this action.

In opposition to RGG's motion to dismiss, Swiss Bank filed a memorandum and an affidavit of William Riley, one of its investigators in the litigation. Riley's affidavit attempted to demonstrate that Defendant Jorge Raul Garcia Granados de Garay ("JRG"), RGG's son, is a Florida resident.

The trial court denied RGG's motion to dismiss. (R. 183). RGG filed a motion for rehearing. (R. 185). In support of the motion for rehearing, RGG filed an affidavit of JRG in which JRG declared that he is a resident of Guatemala and not a resident of Florida. (R. 193-194). RGG also filed a copy of the complaint in Administracion Central, Industrial Y Agropecuaria, S.A. vs. Swiss Bank Corporation Overseas, Sociedad Anonima ("ACIA v. Swiss Bank"). (R. 197) ACIA v. Swiss Bank is an action, filed in Guatemala, similar to a declaratory judgment action asking the Guatemala court to determine the critical liability issues which are also at issue in this case. (R. 197-227). The court denied the motion for rehearing. (R. 4). RGG appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal. (R. 1).

## C. Procedural History -- District Court of Appeal

As noted, RGG urged two points on appeal, <u>i.e.</u>, (1) that the trial court should have enforced the parties' contractual choice of forum and (2) that the action should have been dismissed by

the trial court based upon the doctrine of forum non conveniens. A ruling in favor of RGG on either of those points on appeal would warrant a dismissal of the action. The Third District affirmed the trial court. The entire opinion reads as follows:

#### PER CURIAM.

Appellants bring these appeals from a non-final order denying their motion to dismiss based on lack of jurisdiction and improper venue. affirm on authority of Houston v. Caldwell, 359 So.2d 858 (Fla. 1978) (where venue is established because one of the parties is a resident of Florida, the action may dismissed on grounds of forum non conveniens); Manrique v. Fabbri, 474 So.2d 844 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) (contractual language which reflected an agreement by the parties not to contest jurisdiction of Netherlands the Antilles courts if suit was brought in that jurisdiction cannot be construed to oust Florida of subject jurisdiction); and Crockett, 426 So.2d 1275, 1281 (Fla. DCA 1983) (determination venue question is generally left to sound discretion of trial judge and will not be disturbed unless there is a clear showing of abuse of that discretion).

445 - 437

#### Affirmed.

RGG timely filed a motion for rehearing and rehearing en banc seeking review of the Third District panel opinion. (App.

280). While that motion was pending, this Court decided Manrique v. Fabbri, 493 So.2d 437, 440 (Fla. 1986), holding contractual choice of forum clauses should be enforced by Florida courts unless the party opposing the choice demonstrates that upholding the choice would "for all practical purposes [deprive him] of his day in court". RGG promptly filed a notice of supplemental authority with the Third District directing that Court's attention to this Court's decision in Manrique. Inexplicably however, the Third District ignored RGG's notice of supplemental authority, denied RGG's motion rehearing, and let stand its decision which relied on its own earlier decision in Manrique as controlling authority for rejecting RGG's point on appeal that the parties' choice of forum clause in the relevant agreements should be enforced in this case. (R. 236).

## D. Procedural History -- This Court

RGG sought review of the Third District's decision in this Court. The basis of jurisdiction was: (1) the citing by the Third District of a case which had been overruled by this Court, i.e., Manrique; (2) express and direct conflict with decisions of other district courts of appeal, i.e., Hawes & Garrett General Contractors, Inc. v. Panhandle Custom Decorators & Supply, Inc., 11 F.L.W. 1971 (Fla. 1st DCA Sept. 16, 1986); Datamedic Services

Corp. v. Bescosm, 484 So.2d 1351 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); and Maritime Limited Partnership v. Greenman Advertising Associates, Inc., 455 So.2d 1121 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981); and 3) the pendency of a case in this court, i.e., McRae v. J.D./M.D., Inc., 481 So.2d 945 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), review granted, August 21, 1986, Case No. 68,370, which presented the same question of law.

In an order dated January 5, 1987, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

The District Court erred in failing to reverse the trial Court's order which denied RGG's motion to dismiss. The matter should have been dismissed because: (1) the parties voluntarily and contractually chose to litigate any matter relating to the December 1980 agreement and related documents in either Guatemala or Panama to the exclusion of all other forums; and (2) the doctrine of forum non conveniens compels that the action be litigated in Guatemala.

## A. The Parties Voluntary, Contractual Choice To Litigate Exclusively in Either Guatemala or Panama is Enforceable in the Courts of Florida

#### 1. The Basis of Enforceability

The parties have specifically in good faith bargained for and agreed that any action involving the alleged agreements which are

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