#### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAUL GARCIA GRANADOS QUINONES,
JORGE RAUL GARCIA GRANADOS,
CARMEN RODRIGUEZ CERNA,
ESTUDIOS, PROYECTOS E INVERSIONES
DE CENTRO AMEICA, S..A., (EPICA),
etc., et al.,

pl

Appellants/Defendants,

CASE NO. 69,412 69,413 69,478 69,479

٧.

SWISS BANK CORPORATION (OVERSEAS), S.A., a Panamanian Banking Institution and BANQUE NATIONALE DE PARIS, a French Banking Institution,

Appellees/Plaintiffs.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

Richey & Munroe, P.A. Attorneys for Plaintiffs/ Appellees 717 Ponce de Leon Boulevard Suite 331 Coral Gables, Florida 33134 (305) 445-1110 February 23, 1987

#

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

#### II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court and the district court were correct in denying Defendants' suggestion to dismiss this case based on a contract clause providing that litigation under the contract "may" be brought in either Guatemala or Panama. (App. I, 78) The forum selection clause in the contract before this Court is

permissive. The contract does not exclusively grant venue to Guatemala or Panama. The contract, when taken as a whole, shows the parties using mandatory language at times that they meant for The contract clause at issue was clauses to be mandatory. drafted by Appellants and their attorneys. As drafters of the clause, ambiguity in the clause should be read against Appellants. The Appellants were engaging in the fraudulent transfer of their assets at the very time they were negotiating this clause in the contract, and they were at that time contemplating a fraud upon Appellees. In a case involving outrageous factual circumstances such as are evident in the present litigation, public policy suggests that this Court should not enforce the terms of even a mandatory venue clause.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion, and the district court did not err, in denying Defendants' motion to dismiss based on the doctrine of forum non conveniens. Plaintiffs' choice of forum under the factual pattern established in the record is reasonable and should be honored. The actions on the notes in this matter are subject to summary judgment based upon admissions by the Appellants and the affidavits of experts. The tortious activities of the Appellants within Florida have created causes of action which require the testimony of witnesses in Florida, the presentation of Florida evidentiary documents, and the interpretation of Florida law. Appellants have not made

any showing of abuse of discretion by the trial judge, much less the very strong showing of an abuse of discretion necessary to overturn the trial court's ruling.

### III. ARGUMENT

## A. THE CONTRACT CLAUSE.

The contract clause does not say what the Appellants would like it to say. The contract clause in question provides that the parties may choose to bring the action in the courts of Guatemala or in the courts of Panama. The contract clause then goes on to provide that, if the action is brought in Guatemala, certain rules and regulations shall pertain. The clause further provides that, if the action is brought in Panama, other rules and regulations shall pertain. (App. 206); (R., 78) Nowhere does the clause state that the action may not be brought in any other location. Under this Court's decision in Manrique v. Fabbri, 493 So.2d 437 (Fla. 1986), which allows the parties to determine the location of litigation, such a contract clause would not necessarily grant jurisdiction to Guatemala or to Panama.

<u>Datamatic Services Corporation v. Bescos</u>, 484 So.2d 1351 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), cited by this Court in Manrique, supra at

439, n.3, involved a permissive choice of forum clause. The Second District found that by agreeing to a forum selection clause providing for submission to Florida's jurisdiction, the contestant waived objections that he lacked sufficient minimum contacts with Florida. While finding the forum selection clause enforceable, the court did not consider it to be exclusive. The clause did not foreclose the possibility of suit in another state where personal jurisdiction over the parties existed.

In its decision, the Second District Court of Appeal engages in a detailed analysis of the distinction between mandatory and permissive venue clauses. The court characterizes the conflict between the Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal as involving only mandatory venue clauses. Datamatic at 1353.

Both the Federal courts and the State courts make a distinction between exclusive and permissive forum selection clauses. Some of the many cases in which the specific language of the clause did not confer exclusive venue are listed and analyzed in Appellee's Appendix I at page 89.

The clause in the case at bar uses the word "may." The word "may" has been held by Florida courts to denote a permissive term when given its ordinary meaning. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Leghorn v. Wieland</u>, 289 So.2d 745 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974), <u>reh'g denied</u> (1974). The words

of a contract should be given their usual and ordinary meaning. E.g., Sheldon v. Tiernan, 147 So.2d 167 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962). The circuit court analyzed the forum selection clause properly. The circuit judge specifically addressed the "may" or "shall" issue and found the clause to be permissive. (App. I, 78)

Jusest bagus

In <u>McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Islamic Republic of Iran</u>, 758 F.2d 341 (8th Cir. 1985) <u>cert. denied</u> 106 S.Ct. 347 (1985) the question as to whether or not a forum selection clause was mandatory or permissive hinged upon the meaning of the word "should". After examining the isolated definitions of that word, the court looked to the meaning of the term within the context of the actual contract and stated,

That the parties intended "should" to be differentiated from "shall" is also suggested by the use of the word "shall" to describe the rights and duties of the parties in eighteen other clauses of the BOA.

McDonnell Douglas at 347.

gusel 2003

It is a standard rule of construction that the meaning of a contract and the intent of the parties should be determined by looking at the contract as a whole. Throughout Document 130, the word "shall" is freely used. Clause 17 uses the words "may choose," and reads in pertinent part:

CLAUSE SEVENTEEN: LEGAL ACTION

In any of the cases wherein the contract may be terminated or at the end of the term, the Creditor may choose to take legal proceedings to the competent Courts of the City of Guatemala, Department of Guatemala, Republic of Guatemala or to the competent Courts of Panama City, Republic of Panama. If legal proceedings are entered in the City of Guatemala, the legal action shall be carried out as established by the Codigo Procesal Civil y Mercantil of Guatemala.

(R. 78); (App. 206, 207)

Had the parties intended to provide for litigation solely in Guatemala or Panama, it would have been a simple matter to use words that clearly provide for just that.

In the 25 clauses in Document 130, clearly exclusive terms such as "shall" and "are governed solely by" are used no less than 44 times in 17 clauses. These provisions appear in the following form

Clause Three: Special Loan

"... shall continue to be governed ... ."

Clause Four: Definitions

"... shall mean ... ."

Clause Six: Reimbursement of the Medium-Term Loan and Special Credit

```
"... shall be ... ."
         (a)
              "... shall be ... ."
         (b)
              "... shall be ... ."
         (c)
              "... shall reimburse ...
         (d)
              "... shall extinguish ...
              "... shall entitle ... ."
Clause Seven:
         "... are governed solely ... ."
Clause Eight: Operating Credit
              "... shall notify ...
              "... shall notify ... ."
              "... shall establish ...
         (b)
              "... shall result ... ."
         (C)
         (d) "... shall inform ...
              "... shall consider ... ."
Clause Eight: Review Of The Loan With a View To Its Renewal
              "... shall give ... ."
"... shall be ... ."
         (3)
         (b) "... shall obtain ... ."
Clause Ten: Terms of Payment
         (b) "... may only ... ."
         (d) "... shall be ...
Clause Eleven: Guarantees
         "... shall not ... ."
Clause Eleven (BIS)
         "... shall release ... ."
Clause Twelve: Interest
         "... shall be computed ...
"... shall be fixed ... ."
         "... shall be paid ... ."
```

```
"... shall be made ...
         "... shall be paid ...
        "... shall pay ... ."
Clause Thirteen: Trustee
             "... shall therefore ... ."
             "... shall not ... ."
         (3)
             "... shall be ... ."
             "... shall right away ... ."
             " ... HE MAY ... "
         (d) "... shall be ... ."
Clause Fourteen: Creditor's Previous Authorization
         "... shall immediately ... ."
Clause Fifteen: Acknowledgment of Debtor and the Guarantors
         "... shall pay ...
         "... shall be ... ."
Clause Seventeen: Legal Action
         "... MAY CHOOSE ...
         "... shall be ... ."
Clause Ninteen: Insurance
         "... shall be endorsed ... ."
         "... shall be ... ."
Clause Twenty: Ratification of Guarantees
         "... shall be ... ."
         "... shall pay ... ."
Clause Twenty-Two:
             "... shall be ... ."
         (b)
         (c) "... shall consider ... ."
         (h) "... shall be ... ."
         (i) "... MAY CHOOSE ... ."
```

(R. 55-82); (App. 170-214).

Another fundamental principal of contract interpretation is that ambiguous language should be interpreted against the party who drafted the contract or the ambiguous provision of the contract. Consolidated Development & Engineering Corp. v. Ortega Co., 117 Fla. 438, 158 So. 94 (Fla. 1934); Rose v. Lurton Co., 111 Fla. 424, 149 So. 557 (Fla. 1933). "A party is bound by the language it adopts in an agreement, no matter how disadvantageous that language." Security First Federal Savings & Loan v. Jarchin, 479 So. 2d 767, 770 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985).

(11th Cir. 1985), the 11th United States Circuit Court of Appeals construed the contract clause in that case to be ambiguous, thereby requiring it to be construed against the drafter, a construction which thereby made the clause permissive. The court discussed the holding of M/S Bremen v. Zapata Off-Shore Company, 407 U.S. 1, 92 S.Ct. 1907, 32 L.Ed. 2d 513 (1972), which stated the general rule that a forum selection clause should be enforced unless it is clearly shown that enforcement would be unreasonable or unjust, or that the clause is invalid for such reasons as fraud or over-reaching. But, as the court pointed out, the M/S Bremen case dealt with a mandatory, exclusive clause providing that any dispute "must be treated before the London Court of

Justice." <u>Id.</u> 407 U.S. at 3, 92 S.Ct. at 1909. (Emphasis added). The clause in <u>Citrovale</u> read "place of jurisdiction is Sao Paulo/Brazil." Citrovale at 1232.

This Court in its ruling in Manrique adopted the view enunciated in M/S Bremen v. Zapata Off-Shore Co., supra, and Maritime Limited Partnership v. Greenman Advertising Associates, Inc., 455 So.2d 1121 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). The Third District's final ruling in this case is not inconsistent with either of those cases. In both M/S Bremen and Maritime the language of the forum-selection clauses clearly provided for a mandatory and exclusive place for future litigation.

The drafting of Document 130 was a hotly contested issue and the contract went back and forth between the parties over a period of time before the final document was executed. Don Raul's position in the ruling family of Guatemala, coupled with his already large debt to the banks, certainly gave him equal bargaining power with the banks. The deposition of Raul Garcia Granados makes it clear that Clause 17 was inserted into Document 130 in the form drafted by him and his attorneys. (App. II, 22-24)

Appellants have never contested Appellees' translation of Clause 17. Given the fact that Appellant had the opportunity to draft the clause in a form that would read, "all litigation

shall be brought solely and exclusively in either the courts of Guatemala or the courts of Panama," their argument that the term "may choose" is exclusive and mandatory wording must fail.

Ambiguous language should particularly be construed against the party selecting such language where another construction would defeat the purpose of the contract or result in injustice. Fraudulent intent in the inducement is another basis for refusing to enforce choice of venue clauses. Appellees suggest that the facts in this case indicate that when Don Raul was contemplating the drafting of Document 130, that he was also contemplating to defraud the banks. It is suggested that Clause 17 was drafted for the purpose of attempting to restrict clearly intended future litigation to Guatemala, where he was in control, or to Panama, where he had substantial influence. Key events suggesting such a conclusion are as follows:

1. In 1979, Don Raul bought the condominium in Miami, which he placed in the name of Carmen Rodriguez Cerna. The evidence indicates the condominium is really his. The Third District has found in a related case that a sufficient showing had been made in the trial court of this fact. Cerna v. Swiss Bank Corporation (Overseas), S.A., 12 FLW 485 (Fla. 3d DCA Feb. 20, 1987) (rehearing requested by Swiss Bank on February 24, 1987).

- 2. In December of 1980, Document No. 130 was signed after extensive negotiation.
- 3. During 1981, the Garcia Granados family members, were initiating the transfer of assets held in their personal names to other persons or entities. Within Florida, the apartment on Brickell Avenue, the two homes in Bonaventure, and the horse farm in Ocala were transferred into the names of others.
- 4. In early 1981, Peat, Marwick & Mitchell had undertaken to audit the operations of the Appellants. In March of 1981, the auditing firm notified the bank that it was impossible for them to perform the requested audit because of Appellants' refusal to cooperate.
- 5. In early 1981, Don Raul and his son, Jorge Raul, initiated the litigation in Guatemala which resulted in the sale of the crop of that year to their company, ESTORIL. The banks thus received no income from that year's crop.
- 6. The "TAIPSA" document found by the Dade County Sheriff's office, which memorializes Don Raul's plan to avoid his family's personal guarantees to the banks, was drafted in 1982.
- All of the above factors indicate the existence at a very early date of an intent on the part of Raul Garcia Granados

to defraud the banks. It is suggested that Clause 17 of the contract was negotiated by Raul Garcia Granados with that intent very much in his mind.

Under Florida Conflict of Laws jurisprudence, procedural issues such as venue are controlled by the law of the forum. As a general rule, the nature, validity and interpretation of substantive terms of contracts are to be governed by the law of the country where the contracts are made. Matters of procedure and remedy, however, are governed by the law of the forum. Appellees rely for this proposition on the authorities cited on pages 8-9 of their reply to the jurisdictional brief of Appellants, previously filed with this Court.

Appellants dispute this point and argue that "the better analysis" is that courts look to the law of the forum chosen in the contract to determine whether the language used is effective to invoke the venue selection clause. Appellants then cite, "See, Pfaudler Co. v. Sylvachem Corp., 400 So.2d 503 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981); Jemco, Inc. v. United Parcel Service, Inc., 400 So.2d 499 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). Accord, C.A. May Marine Supply Company v. Brunswick, Corp., 557 F.2d 1163 (5th Cir. 1973)." [The C.A. May case is actually 1977.]

It is amazing Appellants cite this authority in support of their proposition. The authority in fact supports Appellees'

position. In <u>Pfaudler</u> and in <u>Jemco</u> the clauses being interpreted were indemnity clauses. The opin-ions specifically noted that indemnity is a substantive obligation of the contract. It is not procedural or remedial. That is exactly the point made in Appellees' memorandum in opposition.

C.A. May Marine Supply Company is a case involving a contract with a choice of law clause. The contract at issue in the present case does not have a choice of law clause unless the legal proceedings are entered in the City of Guatemala. Clause 17 provides that if the legal proceedings are entered in the City of Guatemala, the Codigo Procesal Civil y Mercantil of Guatemala should apply. Otherwise, the law of whatever forum the action was brought in should determine the choice of law according to the conflicts law of that jurisdiction.

Appellants have cited no case for their proposition that the procedural contract clause regarding venue is to be interpreted by any law other than the law of the forum where Plaintiff brings the case. Appellees refer the Court to McDonnell Douglas Corp., supra, and Citro Florida, Inc., supra, wherein courts in the United States applied their own contract interpretation rules to interpret choice of venue clauses.

## B. FORUM NON CONVENIENS.

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